

Mental Health Care Services in Primary Care

Tackling the Issues in the Context of Health Care Reform

Lesley Russell, Visiting Fellow October 2010



Mental Health Care Services In Primary Care

Tackling the Issues in the Context of Health Care Reform

Lesley Russell, Visiting Fellow October 2010

Contents

1 Executive summary

3 Introduction

5 The growing burden and costs of mental illness

8 Tackling the issues

- 8 Mental health workforce shortages
- 12 The ability of the primary care workforce to manage mental health disorders
- 14 Lack of financial incentives for primary care providers
- 16 Insurance and financial barriers for patients
- 18 Patients' perceptions and fears
- 20 Quality of mental health services
- 22 Comorbidities with physical illness and substance abuse
- 26 The need for early diagnosis and intervention
- 29 Racial and ethnic disparities
- 31 Structure of the care system

35 What else is needed?

- 35 Protection against discrimination for people with mental illness
- 35 Better integration of the systems for addressing mental and physical health and substance abuse
- 36 More youth-specific services

37 Conclusion

39 Endnotes

Executive summary

The responsibility for providing mental health care is falling increasingly to primary care providers. This may reflect both the treatment preferences of many Americans and the availability and affordability of health care services. Well over half of treated patients now receive some form of primary care for their mental disorder, mostly from a primary care doctor, and primary care is now the sole form of health care used by over one-third of patients with a mental disorder accessing the health care system.

As health care reform focuses on a central role for primary care in the delivery and coordination of health care services, especially for the chronically ill, it is timely to consider how mental health services could be better integrated into primary care, and how the implementation of health care reforms could optimally deliver this.

This paper considers the various issues in mental health care and suggests options for reform, highlighting those that are facilitated by the provisions of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or ACA. The principal focus is on the role of primary care in the delivery of mental health care services and how this can be improved.

The key issues considered are:

- Mental health workforce shortages and maldistribution problems
- The ability of the primary care workforce to diagnose and treat mental health disorders
- Lack of financial incentives for primary care providers to deliver quality mental health care
- Insurance and financial barriers for patients seeking treatment for mental health disorders
- Patients' perceptions and fears that are barriers to accessing effective and appropriate treatments for mental health disorders

- The quality of mental health services
- Comorbidities of mental health disorders with physical illness and substance abuse
- The need for early diagnosis and intervention
- Racial and ethnic disparities in mental health services
- The structure of the health care system as an impediment to the integration of mental health services

Alignment of the suggestions for reforms made in this paper with health care reforms enacted in the ACA and other recent legislation such as the American Reinvestment and Recovery Act highlights that several crucial elements are missing.

The most important of these can be categorized in three broad areas:

- Protection against discrimination for people with mental illness
- Better integration of the systems for addressing mental and physical health and substance abuse
- More youth-specific services

Achieving these goals, together with robust efforts to ensure that mental health is always considered in the implementation of the ACA, would make a substantial contribution toward expanding access to mental health services, improving the physical health of people with mental illness and the mental health of people with chronic physical illnesses, and addressing current health care inequalities for people with mental health problems, especially for those who are from racial and ethnic minorities.

Introduction

Mental health disorders are common in the United States, affecting some 44 million adults and 13.7 million children each year. Suicide is the eighth leading cause of death in the United States and 80 percent to 90 percent of people who die by suicide are suffering from a mental illness. Yet despite the facts that mental health disorders are as disabling as heart disease or cancer in terms of premature death and lost productivity, and most mental health disorders are treatable using medication and other therapies, fewer than half of adults and only one-third of children with a diagnosable mental disorder receive treatment.

Mental health remains a hidden health issue. It rarely receives public attention, is underfunded in both the public and private sectors, and was barely mentioned during the recent debate on health care reform.

The barriers to early diagnosis, treatment, and care are many: a shortage of mental health services and providers; a failure to link physical and mental health care and lack of parity in the way these services are provided; lack of public awareness of effective treatments; lack of health insurance coverage and financial costs; and stigma. The unmet need for treatment is greatest in traditionally underserved groups, including elderly persons, racial and ethnic minorities, those with low incomes, those without insurance, and residents of rural areas.

An Institute of Medicine report in 2005 concluded that the only way to achieve true quality (and equality) in the health care system is to integrate primary care with mental health care and substance abuse services. This is particularly important as the majority of people with poor mental health who do get treatment see only a primary care physician.

As health care reform focuses on a central role for primary care in the delivery and coordination of health care services, especially for the chronically ill, it is timely to consider how mental health services could be better integrated into primary care, and how the implementation of health care reforms could optimally deliver this.

Achieving this goal would make a substantial contribution toward expanding access to mental health services, improving the physical health of people with mental illness and the mental health of people with chronic physical illnesses, and addressing current health care inequalities for people with mental health problems, especially for those who are from racial and ethnic minorities.

The growing burden and costs of mental illness

Mental illness imposes a substantial burden on individuals and society. Mental disorders are not only highly prevalent medical conditions but they are also highly disabling.

An estimated 26 percent of Americans aged 18 and older—about one in four adults—suffer from a diagnosable mental disorder in a given year. This translates to about 60 million people. While mental disorders are widespread in the population, the main burden of illness is concentrated in the 6 percent of the population who suffer from a serious and chronic mental illness.²

The massive Global Burden of Disease study conducted by the World Health Organization, the World Bank, and Harvard University reveals that mental illness, including suicide, accounts for more than 15 percent of the burden of disease in first world countries such as the United States. This is more than the disease burden caused by all cancers.

The Global Burden of Disease study uses a measure called disability adjusted life years, or DALYs, to compare the burden of disease across many different disease conditions. DALYs measure lost years of healthy life regardless of whether the years were lost to premature death or disability, and the disability component is weighted for severity of the disability. For example, disability caused by major depression is equivalent to blindness or paraplegia whereas the active psychosis seen in schizophrenia produces disability equivalent to quadriplegia.

Using the DALYs measure, major depression ranked first, ahead of ischemic heart disease, as the major disease burden in first world countries in 2004 and this burden is predicted to grow over the next two decades.³ The excess disability due to mental disorders is a result of their early age of onset and the growing impact with age.

Mental illness may result in an increased risk of living in poverty, having a lower socioeconomic status, and having lower educational attainment. Major depression, as well as other psychiatric disorders, has been shown to impair family function, increase the risk of teenage childbearing, and increase the risk of domestic violence.

The health expenditures for mental disorders rose from \$35.2 billion in 1996 (in 2006 dollars) to \$57.5 billion in 2006. The number of people accounting for expenditures for mental disorders increased from 19.3 million to 36.2 million over this decade.⁴

In 2008 the total economic costs of mental illness were estimated at \$317 billion.⁵ This excludes costs associated with comorbid conditions, incarceration, homelessness, and early mortality, yet this sum is equivalent to more than \$1,000/year for every American. The negative economic consequences of mental illness far exceed the direct costs of treatment, thus making it important to treat mental illness.

Rates of mental health problems are significantly higher for patients with certain chronic conditions such as diabetes, asthma, and heart conditions. Failure to treat both physical and mental health conditions results in poorer health outcomes and higher health care costs.6

The causes of most mental disorders lie in some combination of genetic and environmental factors, which may be biological or psychosocial. Certain demographic and economic groups are more likely than others to experience mental health problems and some mental disorders, and it is now recognized that socioeconomic factors affect individuals' vulnerability to mental illness and mental health problems.

Childhood mental health is expressed in the context of their development within their particular social environment. We do not yet know what factors place some at risk for mental illness and what protects some children but not others despite exposure to the same risk factors. There is growing recognition that there is much that can be done to prevent or treat mental health conditions in children and adolescents.

A substantial minority of older people is disabled, often severely, by mental disorders including Alzheimer's disease, major depression, anxiety, and other conditions. In the United States today, the highest rate of suicide—an all-toocommon consequence of unrecognized or inappropriately treated depression is found in older males.

The magnitude of the mental illness disease burden also results from the fact that only a minority of individuals with these disorders ever receives treatment in the specialized mental health care system or in the general health care system and initial treatment is frequently delayed for many years.

If disability is to be reduced, a bridging of the "treatment gap" must occur. The treatment gap represents the absolute difference between the true prevalence of a disorder and the treated proportion of individuals affected by the disorder. Most people with mental disorders in the United States remain either untreated or poorly treated. Interventions are needed to enhance treatment initiation and quality.

This fact underscores the urgency of ensuring that health care provider training properly emphasizes the skills required to differentiate accurately the causes of cognitive, emotional, and behavioral symptoms that may, in some instances, rise to the level of mental disorders, and in other instances be expressions of unmet general medical needs.

The growing burden of mental illness and the huge unmet need presents an unprecedented challenge in organizing, financing, and delivering effective mental health services.

Tackling the issues

This section of the report outlines the various issues in mental health care and suggests options for reform, highlighting those that are facilitated by the provisions of the ACA. The principal focus is on the role of primary care in the delivery of mental health care services and how this can be improved.

Mental health workforce shortages

Outline of the issue and its impact

The current shortage of mental health professionals, particularly psychiatrists, makes it inevitable that a considerable amount of mental illness care is provided in the nonmental health care sector.

Recent county-level estimates across the nation have identified widespread shortages of psychiatrists, and maldistribution of other mental health professionals, especially in rural areas. The authors of this study included the caveat that these estimates of need were extrapolated from current provider treatment patterns rather than from a normative standard of how much care should be provided and by whom.

A 2007 study showed there were 353,398 clinically active providers in six mental health professions: advanced practice psychiatric nurses, licensed professional counselors, marriage and family therapists, psychiatrists, psychologists, and social workers.8 Provider-to-population ratios varied greatly across the nation, both within professions and overall. Social workers and licensed professional counselors were the largest groups; psychiatrists and advanced practice psychiatric nurses were the smallest. Professionals tended to be in urban, high-population, high-income counties. Marriage and family therapists were concentrated in California, and other mental health professionals were concentrated in the Northeast of the country.

Of these mental health professionals, only psychiatrists and advanced practice nurses can prescribe the medicines that are an important part of many patients' treatment regimes. Mental health prescribers are currently represented by an estimated 32,000 psychiatrists and 8,000 advanced practice nurses nationwide.⁹ Psychiatrists are older on average than other mental health providers. The proportion of psychiatrist providers will decline over the next decade, which will increase the demand for prescriptions from nurses and other medical professionals and reopen issues about prescribing by psychologists.

The importance of the number of mental health professionals is reflected in the fact that, on average, the higher the number of psychiatrists, psychologists, and social workers per capita in a state, the lower the suicide rate¹⁰.

The shortage of mental health professionals is highlighted not just by current unmet needs but by the fact that for those patients who do get treatment, current service use is not overly generous: Adult patients with a serious mental illness such as psychosis typically spend 10.5 hours per year with nonprescriber mental health professionals and 4.4 hours per year with prescriber mental health professionals or primary care physicians in mental health visits; adults with a less serious mental illness such as depression or anxiety spend about 7.8 minutes with nonprescriber mental health professionals and 12.6 minutes with prescriber mental health professionals or primary care physicians in mental health visits per year¹¹.

Suggested reforms

Better long-term planning for workforce needs

Future workforce planning must not ignore the needs of mental health services. It must acknowledge the current large level of unmet need, the importance of appropriately trained mental health professionals to deliver services to children, adolescents, and the elderly, and the need for cultural sensitivity.

The primary care workforce is already acknowledged as being in short supply, and if primary care doctors are to do more in mental health, then this must be factored into the number of education and training places needed.

Future analyses must recognize that the mental health workforce is characterized by a considerable overlap of roles and functions, with numerous types of professionals vying for patients, recognition, and financial resources. The ability for different types of mental health professionals to substitute for each other is

complicated because of variations in state scope of practice laws and insurance reimbursement rules.

National workforce planning efforts would benefit from the central collection of standardized practice information from clinically active providers in all mental health professions.

More incentives to encourage people to enter the mental health workforce

The provision of academic assistance and financial incentives will help encourage students, especially those from disadvantaged backgrounds, to enter the mental health field.

Expanded academic training capacity for critical professions such as psychiatry, psychology, psychiatric nursing, and social work will also be required, along with opportunities for retraining and continuing professional education.

Incentives to address the maldistribution of the mental health workforce

The health care reform legislation recognizes that primary care clinicians can be encouraged to practice in areas of workforce shortage by the provision of additional Medicare payment incentives. Such incentives should be explored for a range of mental health professionals, in particular for psychiatrists and clinical and child psychologists who practice in underserved areas.

Better use of telemedicine and IT

The use of telecommunications to provide mental health services has been in existence for more than 40 years. It has been used successfully as a tool for treatment and providing counseling services in rural areas, with high levels of patient and physician satisfaction. 12 A number of payers and health services offer telemedicine mental health services and benefits, including Medicare and Medicaid.

The American Telemedicine Association recently released evidence-based practice guidelines for the use of telemedicine and videoconferencing in the delivery of mental health services. 13 These guidelines are designed to form the standard of care for such services and to be the basis for the development and practice of uniform, effective, safe, and sustainable telemedicine mental health practices.

Such services can also be used to increase access to training and educational programs for mental health professionals.

Recognition of the important role of pediatricians

Pediatricians play an important frontline role in assessing the mental health and behavioral problems of children. Pediatricians consistently report that pediatric residencies do not adequately prepare them to treat patients with learning disabilities, attention deficit disorders, mental retardation, substance abuse issues, or psychosocial and behavioral problems. This deficiency should be remedied through changes in training and requirements for continuing medical education.

Provisions in the ACA that will help deliver these reforms

While there are very few provisions in the ACA that specifically address shortage and maldistribution in the mental health workforce, there is a raft of provisions to tackle these issues generally and judicious implementation of these can increase the supply of the range of mental health professionals.

In particular, the establishment of a national commission tasked with reviewing health care workforce and projected workforce needs (Section 5101) will help with the alignment of federal health care workforce resources with national needs.

In Section 5602, the secretary of health and human services is directed to establish a comprehensive methodology and criteria for designating medically underserved populations and health professional shortage areas. This work must include a consideration of mental health needs.

It is important to ensure that current and new education and training programs and recruitment and retention programs have a mental health focus that reflects the current and projected needs. Progress toward the better integration of physical and mental health services means that all health professionals need to have adequate training in managing mental health issues.

Section 5306 of the new law authorizes funds for mental and behavioral health education and training grants across a broad range of professions, and ensures that some of these grants go to historically black colleges or universities or other minority-serving institutions. For the fiscal years 2010 through 2013, this provision authorizes \$8 million for training in social work; \$12 million for training in graduate psychology, of which not less than \$10 million is to be allocated for doctoral, postdoctoral, and internship-level

training; \$10 million for training in professional child and adolescent mental health; and \$5 million for training in paraprofessional child and adolescent work.

It will be critical that these funds are fully appropriated. Moreover, given the need, it would be disappointing if the only focus on mental health workforce was through the provisions of Section 5306.

The ability of the primary care workforce to manage mental health disorders

Outline of the issue and its impact

The responsibility for providing mental health care is falling increasingly to primary care providers. Well over half of treated patients now receive some form of primary care for their mental disorder, and primary care is now the sole form of health care used by more than one-third of patients with a mental disorder accessing the health care system.¹⁴ Estimates are that some 11 percent to 36 percent of primary care patients have a mental disorder. 15

While use of the primary care sector for mental health care clearly has grown and this may represent patient preference—the intensity and quality of treatment remains shallow and uneven. Many cases go unrecognized and untreated and it has been estimated that only one-third of cases seen in the primary care sector received minimally adequate care.¹⁶

Research has confirmed that the provision of frontline mental health services in primary care settings, when appropriate and optimal, has positive impacts, including the improvement of patient, practitioner, and provider satisfaction; overall health care cost efficiency, including primary and specialty costs for physical health care; improved clinical and functional patient outcomes; and adherence to regimens and treatment of mental health disorders. Receipt of mental health services in primary care settings also reduces stigma for some consumers.¹⁷

Suggested reforms

Better training and tools for primary care clinicians

Concentrated outreach efforts to promote the recognition of mental health disorders and timely initiation of treatments in primary care settings are necessary, given that these settings are increasingly the portals of entry into the service delivery system for most people with mental health needs.

This approach will require expanded training for primary care health professionals, increased awareness programs for providers and patients, and more effective tools to screen for mental disorders in primary care practices.

Primary care clinicians need to be aware of the range of treatment options for mental health disorders. If they are not trained to provide psychological interventions or counseling, then they need to be aware of where patients can be referred for these services. Moreover, they need follow-up mechanisms to ensure that their patients do access these referred services.

Ideally there should be effective and ongoing communications between the primary care doctor and the patient's other providers. Written patient management plans can facilitate this type of communication, and also help involve the patient in their care and the decision making around this.

Credentialing and recognition of mental health training programs

Specific credentialing of primary care doctors who have undertaken additional and ongoing training in mental health should be encouraged, perhaps by the provision of supplemental reimbursements. Credentialing standards should reflect the realities of rural service delivery by recognizing the important contributions of nonphysician mental health professionals.

Use of team approach

The Department of Veterans' Affairs has evaluated the effects of establishing a multidisciplinary mental health primary care team in primary care clinics. 18 The team works in collaboration with primary care providers to evaluate and treat their patients. This approach means patients can be rapidly evaluated and stabilized, with a reduction in the number of referrals to specialty mental health care (and subsequent delays in treatment), and improved collaborative care. The effectiveness of this approach, however, does depend on provider attitudes and practices. 19

Community health centers, rural health clinics, and community mental health centers should make judicious use of nonprofessional and paraprofessional mental health workers, especially for outreach and prevention activities. Linked to this is the need to directly fund or reimburse for services provided by care managers and social workers in integrated health care practices.

Provisions in the ACA that will help deliver these reforms

The Primary Care Extension Program (Section 5405), which is created to educate and provide technical assistance to primary care providers about evidence-based therapies, preventive medicine, health promotion, chronic disease management, and mental health, has the potential to be a major factor in assisting primary care providers to recognize and manage the mental health needs of their patients.

Lack of financial incentives for primary care providers

Outline of the issue and its impact

Primary care physicians are major providers of mental health care, but payment mechanisms create a disincentive for comprehensive mental health screening in a system where they are overworked and undervalued.²⁰

Primary care visits typically last an average of 13 minutes and require the management of multiple patient problems. The detection and management of mental health problems must compete with other priorities such as treating an acute physical illness, monitoring a chronic illness, or providing preventive health services. Moreover, the primary care doctor often has to identify mental health problems that are obscured by physical symptoms or the patient's reluctance to acknowledge them. Eighty percent of patients with depression initially present with physical symptoms.²¹

These facts indicate how important it is to ensure that busy primary care doctors are appropriately recompensed as an incentive for them to spend the additional time required with patients who have, or may have, a mental health problem.

Suggested reforms

Increased financial incentives

Reimbursement practices favor shorter office visits, thereby discouraging identification of issues beyond the primary presenting disorder. There are no incentives in the payment system for identifying cases that could benefit from integrated care and in almost all cases, the extra time and effort required to create integration are not reimbursed.

While financial considerations are just one aspect to achieving better mental health services, including shared care, in primary care, they do currently present a considerable barrier that must be addressed.

There is no single way in which this could or should be done. The evidence shows, however, that most models for financing care that use fee-for-service, capitated arrangements, or "carve out" the delivery of mental health services from other health services do little to encourage collaborative treatment planning and coordination of care or have created conditions that work against such integration.²²

A report prepared for the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, or SAMHSA, in 2008 addressed possible solutions for reimbursement of mental health services provided in primary care settings.²³

Paying for quality and outcomes

Improved public-sector contracts and private-sector reimbursement systems that provide incentives for the adoption of quality standards for providers as well as quality improvement programs are needed.

Analyses suggest that comprehensive financial incentives offer the prospect of significantly enhancing quality beyond the modest impacts of prevailing pay-forperformance, or P4P, programs.²⁴ Financial incentives alone, however, will not be enough. Organizational innovations such as the primary care medical home and accountable health care organizations can also help catalyze more powerful quality incentive models.

Consistency in Medicare and Medicaid policies

Inconsistent, complex, and confusing reimbursement policies interfere with the ability and willingness of mental health providers to provide needed services. For those populations dependent on Medicare and Medicaid, health care agencies need to address widely varying interpretations of reimbursement policies with clarifications of policies, definitions, and allowable services and then widely disseminate and publicize those clarifications to payers, fiscal intermediaries, managed care organizations, and state and local associations. These recommendations, which were made by the 2008 SAMHSA report, should be addressed in order to reduce the reimbursement barriers currently confronting those with public health insurance who come the to primary care sector for mental health services.²⁵

Provisions in the ACA that will help deliver these reforms

There is a possibility that state grants provided under Section 5606 to health care providers who provide services to a high percentage of medically underserved populations or other special populations could direct funds to those providers who focus on mental health services.

There are many initiatives in the ACA that focus on improving the quality of Medicaid and Medicare services and that will link payment to quality outcomes for both clinicians and hospitals. This includes, in Section 10322, the establishment of a quality measure reporting program for inpatient psychiatric hospitals beginning in 2014.

The ability of federal and state policymakers to link quality and mental health outcomes to reimbursement rates for mental health services has the potential to improve both these factors in the primary care setting. Public reporting of performance against agreed quality measures, as required by the ACA, will provide needed information to consumer and patient advocates.

Insurance and financial barriers for patients

Outline of the issue and its impact

Financial considerations are the leading barrier to receiving mental health care, either through lack of insurance coverage (52 percent) or concerns over cost (42 percent).26

Individuals with psychiatric conditions have out-of-pocket health care costs that are more than double the costs individuals without psychiatric conditions face, even after adjusting for socioeconomic factors, health status, and functional limitations.²⁷ Private insurance is the major source of payment for specialty mental health and hospital services for children and adults but the share paid by public insurance has increased over time.²⁸

As a result of legislation enacted in 2008, group health plans and employers who self insure will no longer be allowed to impose different limitations on mental health and substance abuse coverage than they do for medical treatment. In other words, deductibles, copayments, covered hospital days, and any limits on outpatient treatments must be identical. Under this law, insurers can still require that services be medically necessary and can require preapproval or prior review. They can also require medical evidence that the treatments are effective. The Department of Health and Human Services has recently promulgated rules to implement these requirements;²⁹ these rules took effect on July 1, 2010.

Medicare recipients aren't affected by this law; however, a measure adopted in 2008 eliminated discriminatory copayments in that program, which had been capped at 50 percent for mental health treatment, compared with 20 percent for most doctors' services. The Medicare change is being phased in gradually and will not be fully in force until 2016.

As a cautionary note, a recent study suggests that implementing mental health parity nationally will reduce some but not all of the barriers to mental health care.³⁰

Suggested reforms

Ensure that all people with mental illness are able to get affordable health insurance coverage

Health care reform makes important contributions toward the goals of universal coverage, reforming private health insurance, and making access to quality care more affordable for all Americans. These initiatives will help address the gaps in the provision of mental health services, especially those delivered in the primary care sector.

Provisions in the ACA that will help deliver these reforms

Provisions in the ACA that will prevent private health insurers from denying coverage on the basis of pre-existing conditions or limiting coverage when people most need it will help people with mental illness get and keep health coverage.

The ability of nonelderly, nonpregnant adults with incomes up to 133 percent of the federal poverty level to enroll in Medicaid, and financial assistance to help individuals and families with incomes between 133 percent and 400 percent of the FPL to purchase coverage on state-based insurance exchanges, will particularly benefit people with a mental illness, many of whom live in poverty.³¹ Provisions which place limitations on out-of-pocket costs will also help.

There are two provisions in the ACA that will reduce the cost of prescription medicines for people with a mental health disorder. Medicare Part D enrollees will benefit considerably from the provision (Section 1100) that will close the prescription drug "doughnut hole" by 2010. Section 2502 removes smoking cessation drugs, barbiturates, and benzodiazepines from Medicaid's excludable drug list, effective January 1, 2014. This will make these prescription medicines, used to treat mental health disorders and smoking, available and affordable to all Medicaid beneficiaries.

Patients' perceptions and fears

Outline of the issue and its impact

Among many Americans there is still a persuasive reluctance to seek care for mental health problems, and a failure to acknowledge the clinical basis of these problems. The reasons for not seeking mental health treatment in the context of a perceived need are complex. Research shows that attitudinal barriers to mental health service use are more common than structural barriers across countries with differing health care systems.³²

What it means to be mentally healthy is subject to many different interpretations and varies across cultures. This in turn means that stigmatization of people with mental disorders also varies across population subgroups. Stigma deters people from seeking and wanting to pay for care, reduces patients' access to resources and opportunities such as housing and jobs, and leads to low self-esteem, isolation, and hopelessness.³³

Concern about stigma appears to be heightened in rural areas relative to larger towns or cities and stigma also disproportionately affects certain age groups, such as children and older people.³⁴

An additional factor that influences the willingness to access treatment is a lack of mental health literacy on the part of the public, specifically a lack of knowledge of how to recognize mental disorders and beliefs about treatment that are at variance with those of health professionals.

Beliefs about various types of professional help and treatment are also important. For example, if a person with a mental disorder believes that consulting a psychiatrist or psychologist is unlikely to be helpful, this will reduce their chance of getting appropriate help.³⁵ Surveys in several countries have found predominantly negative attitudes towards psychotropic medication, both because of concern about side effects and the belief that medications only deal with the symptoms rather than the causes. By contrast, psychological therapies are seen more positively.³⁶

Suggested reforms

Public education and awareness

There is no simple or single panacea to eliminate the stigma associated with mental illness. Knowledge of mental illness and its causes appears by itself insufficient to dispel stigma.³⁷ Overall approaches to stigma reduction involve advocacy and public education programs, and contact with persons with mental illness through schools and other societal institutions.³⁸ There is also an important role for the business community to play here, given that many employees struggle to manage the consequences of mental illness in their families.

A focus on recovery

Treatment regimes and patient support programs need to emphasize each individual's potential for recovery. The 2003 President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health proposed that the mental health care system should be transformed to be recovery-oriented in its care and services.³⁹

The commission defined recovery as "the process in which people are able to live, work, learn, and participate fully in their communities. For some individuals, recovery is the ability to live a fulfilling and productive life despite a disability. For others, recovery implies the reduction or complete remission of symptoms."

Care that is focused on increasing patients' ability to successfully cope with life's challenges and on facilitating recovery will require services beyond health and the treatment of symptoms, such as housing, training, and employment.

Protection against discrimination

The Americans with Disabilities Act, or ADA, is a legal tool to fight discrimination⁴⁰. To be protected by the ADA, someone must have a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities, or be perceived by others as having such an impairment.

Provisions in the ACA that will help deliver these reforms

There is nothing in the new health care reform law to address these issues. It's conceivable that, with the right focus, some of the efforts to improve health literacy could encourage patients with mental health problems to seek treatment more readily.

Quality of mental health services

Outline of the issue and its impact

Despite the availability of evidence-based treatment for mental disorders, many patients and families do not receive effective treatment.⁴¹ One study estimates that less than 10 percent of patients diagnosed with major depression receive demonstrably beneficial therapy. 42 Ethnic minorities, older patients, and less-educated patients are more likely to be subject to treatment disparities and to receive lowerquality care than other patients.⁴³

While the majority of primary care doctors feel confident about their ability to manage mental health problems, they do not always provide evidence-based care. For example, although primary care physicians prescribe 41 percent of antidepressants, these are not always prescribed in appropriate dosages and the requisite follow-up visits are not always scheduled. 44 The evidence indicates that optimal treatment of depression includes psychotherapy and this is not always provided or even available.

Suggested reforms

It is not enough to simply improve the level of diagnosis; more must be done to ensure that patients receive beneficial therapy and to improve the quality of treatment.

Use of evidence-based practice guidelines

Guideline-based protocols can improve detection and treatment of depression in primary care, reduce suicide risk, prevent relapse of symptoms, and improve outcomes. 45 Despite this, simply introducing treatment guidelines has not proven to be successful; more complex interventions are needed to improve patient outcomes.

These include clinician education, nurse case management, and a greater degree of integration between primary care and mental health services. Telephone medication counseling delivered by practice nurses or trained counselors is also effective.⁴⁶

Developing infrastructure for evidence-based psychotherapy and psychosocial treatments

Psychotherapy is one of the primary treatment modalities for mental health conditions. But there is a substantial gap between the state of evidence for effectiveness of particular models of structured psychotherapy and what is known about the content or effectiveness of psychotherapy as delivered. Although evidence-based psychosocial treatments such as cognitive behavioral therapy, or CBT, and interpersonal psychotherapy exist, there are no training, licensure, or certification requirements obligating providers to have competence in such therapies and no easy way for consumers or providers to identify practitioners who deliver the treatments.⁴⁷

This issue can be addressed through professional leadership, training, evaluation, and assessment tools.

Improved patient compliance

Rates of compliance with mental health appointments and medication are challenging problems in the treatment of persons with mental illness. 48 To a large extent, patient compliance is a direct reflection of the quality of the doctor-patient relationship. When consumers are empowered and motivated to improve their health with the help of a doctor, compliance or adherence to treatment is higher. When there is distrust, disagreement, or misunderstanding involved, as when mental health status is uncertain or treatment side effects are unwelcome, compliance is lower.

Provisions in the ACA that will help deliver these reforms

The new law (Section 6301) establishes a Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute, or PCORI, as a nonprofit corporation that is not an agency or establishment of the U.S. government. The institute's purpose is "to assist patients, clinicians, purchasers, and policymakers in making informed health decisions by advancing the quality and relevance of evidence concerning the manner in which diseases, disorders, and other health conditions can effectively and appropriately be prevented, diagnosed, treated, monitored, and managed through research and evidence synthesis that considers variations in patient subpopulations, and the dissemination of research findings with respect to the relative health outcomes, clinical effectiveness, and appropriateness of medical treatments, services, and items."

The PCORI must ensure that subpopulations are appropriately accounted for in research designs, so this would cover the mentally ill, and they (and their families and careers) should also be represented in the patient and consumer representatives on the advisory panels.

Section 10410 directs the administrator of the SAMHSA to award grants to centers of excellence in the treatment of depressive disorders. The work from these centers of excellence could help with the development of evidence-based treatment guidelines.

As previously noted there are a number of provisions in the ACA aimed at improving the quality of health care services. Section 3011 mandates the development of a National Strategy to Improve Health Care Quality to improve the delivery of health care services, patient health outcomes, and population health. Other related provisions require the establishment of a federal health care quality Internet website and an Interagency Working Group on Health Care Quality comprised of federal agencies to collaborate on the development and dissemination of quality initiatives consistent with the national strategy. The bill authorizes \$75 million over five years for the development of quality measures at the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services.

Patient compliance with treatment and medication regimes requires a multifaceted approach; provisions that address care management and coordination, improve health literacy, involve patients more in their treatment decisions, and provide medication therapy management programs will all contribute to improved compliance. This is also an issue that should be addressed by the Center for Innovation in Medicare and Medicaid.

Comorbidities with physical illness and substance abuse

Outline of the issue and its impact

Mental illness often occurs together with other health conditions, complicating treatment and raising overall medical costs. Patients with mental disorders use general medical services more often and have higher related medical costs compared with patients without mental disorders. For example, patients with diabetes and comorbid depression have health care costs that are 4.5 times higher than those without comorbid depression,⁴⁹ and children and adolescents with comorbid mental and medical illnesses have significantly higher medical costs than others of the same age.⁵⁰

The prevalence of depression in the medically ill ranges between 15 percent and 61 percent in published studies.⁵¹ People with chronic illnesses such as cancer, heart disease, and neurological disorders have a significantly higher prevalence of anxiety and depressive disorders than people without such chronic illnesses.

Conversely, research results on the physical health of people with mental illness indicate the morbidity and the mortality from certain physical conditions is high in people with long-term mental illnesses. Persons with serious mental illness die on average 25 years earlier than the general population. 52 Eighty-seven percent of years of life lost to premature death by the mentally ill are due to chronic disease, especially infectious, pulmonary, and cardiovascular diseases, and diabetes. Cardiac events alone account for more deaths than suicide.

There are several reasons for this:

- Patients with psychoses, including schizophrenia, are more likely than the general population to have lifestyle risk factors for cardiovascular disease and cancer; they are more likely to smoke, less likely to exercise, and more likely to have diets higher in fat and lower in fiber than the general population.
- Psychiatrists and family physicians are poor at recognizing and treating physical conditions in their psychiatric patients.
- Many patients with severe mental illness are homeless and jobless.
- Medications used by these patients often have severe side effects.
- Many people with mental disorders report difficulty in obtaining insurance and therefore cost is a barrier to obtaining the right medical care when it is needed.⁵³

Substance abuse and mental health

More than one in five adults living with serious mental illness have a co-occurring substance use disorder and people with substance use disorders are roughly twice as likely to have a mood or anxiety disorder.⁵⁴ An estimated 4.0 million adults met the criteria in 2002 for both serious mental illness and substance dependence or abuse (often referred to as dual diagnosis) in the past year. It is now generally agreed that as much as 50 percent of the mentally ill population also has a

substance abuse problem. The drug most commonly used is alcohol, followed by marijuana and cocaine. Prescription drugs such as tranquilizers and sleeping medicines may also be abused.55

In some cases, people suffering from serious mental disorders (often undiagnosed) take drugs to alleviate their symptoms—a practice known as self-medicating. In other cases mental disorders are triggered by drug abuse. Chronic drug abuse by adolescents during formative years is a particular concern because it can interfere with normal socialization and cognitive development and thus frequently contributes to the development of mental disorders.⁵⁶

Too often these patients struggle to receive simultaneous treatment for their mental disorder and their substance abuse.

Suggested reforms

There are strong arguments for better integration of the mental and physical health care systems. The issue of comorbidity is ignored by many payment mechanisms and indeed there are often financial disincentives for integrated physical and mental care.

Better screening of chronically ill patients for mental health problems

The risk of becoming depressed for those with chronic illnesses is between 25 percent and 33 percent. It is especially high for those who have had a heart attack (40 percent to 65 percent), Parkinson's disease (40 percent), cancer (25 percent), and diabetes (25 percent). Clinicians need to be alert to this and willing to offer appropriate treatment.

Early diagnosis and treatment can reduce distress, as well as the risk of complications and suicide for those with chronic illness and depression. Depression treatment can produce an improvement in many patients' overall medical condition, quality of life, and likelihood of sticking to a long-term treatment plan⁵⁷.

Provision of better physical care for the mentally ill

The adverse medical effects of psychiatric medications and the poor health habits (such as smoking and obesity) associated with mental illness may underlie these findings, although the effects of psychiatric illness on immune and endocrine systems may also contribute to them.

The mentally ill should not miss out on preventive health screenings and programs, and when physical illness strikes, they are entitled to the same type and quality of care as all Americans. That is why mental health services, especially those for the seriously ill, should have strong ties to physical health care services.

"No wrong door" approach to dual diagnosis programs

Effective dual diagnosis programs combine mental health and substance abuse (including alcohol abuse) interventions that are tailored for the complex needs of clients with comorbid disorders. There is general agreement that broad-spectrum diagnosis and concurrent therapy (pharmacological and behavioral) leads to better outcomes for these patients.⁵⁸

The health care systems that treat substance abuse and mental illness are typically disconnected. Physicians tend to treat patients with mental illnesses, and a mix of providers with various backgrounds and training deliver substance abuse treatments. Some mental health facilities will not accept patients with a substance abuse problem, and some substance abuse treatment centers are biased against using any medications, including those necessary to treat patients with severe mental disorders. This dichotomy must be addressed.

Provisions in the ACA that will help deliver these reforms

Section 5604 authorizes \$50 million in grants to colocate primary and specialty care in community-based mental health settings. This will help with the provision of coordinated and integrated services to the mentally ill.

The provision (Section 2703) that gives states the option of enrolling Medicaid beneficiaries with chronic conditions into a health home (i.e. a medical home) could potentially be used to address the needs of the mentally ill and/or those with comorbid conditions.

Initiatives that seek to prevent and reduce the incidence of chronic diseases also have the potential to improve the care and outcomes for people with mental health disorders. Section 4108 authorizes the secretary of health and human services to award grants to states to provide incentives for Medicaid beneficiaries to participate in programs providing incentives for healthy lifestyles. These programs, which must be comprehensive and must have demonstrated success in helping

individuals in areas such as lowering or controlling cholesterol and blood pressure, losing weight, quitting smoking, and managing or preventing diabetes, may also address comorbidities, such as depression, associated with these conditions.

The secretary may also award community transformation grants under Section 4201 for programs to prevent and reduce the incidence of chronic diseases associated with overweight and obesity, tobacco use, or mental illness.

The need for early diagnosis and intervention

Outline of the issue and its impact

The incidences of depression, anxiety, psychotic, personality, eating, and substance use disorders are highest in adolescence and early adult life. Research shows that half of all lifetime cases of mental illness begin by age 14 and an estimated 14 percent to 20 percent of children and adolescents are affected by a mental health problem every year. 59 But only one in four children and adolescents get treatment. Serious mental disorders increase mortality and may produce decades of disability and unfulfilled lives, so there are potential benefits associated with early intervention in mental disorders.

For those at high risk of schizophrenia, early intervention can delay the onset of the first psychotic episode; psychosis may even be preventable if detected and treated in the pre-illness phase.⁶⁰ But on average three years elapse between the time when young people with schizophrenia first experience symptoms and the time when they first access help. The corresponding interval for young people with mood disorders is seven and a half years.

Suggested reforms

Increased awareness of the need for early diagnosis and intervention

The first step in establishing successful early intervention is to ensure that the medical profession and the community better understand the potential seriousness of unrecognized and poorly treated mental illness. In the case of children and adolescents, this means awareness of behavioral problems and anxieties that, if not addressed, can lead to mental health disorders.

Better mental health services for children and families

The Comprehensive Community Mental Health Services Program for Children and Their Families provides grants for the improvement and expansion of systems of care to meet the needs of the estimated 4.5 million to 6.3 million children with serious emotional disturbances and their families. States, communities, territories, Indian tribes, and tribal organizations are eligible for the grant program, which was first authorized in 1992. Since that year, the program has funded 92 grantees across the country, and there are currently 61 grant communities and 31 former grant programs.

Data indicate that the program successfully reaches disadvantaged youth and can bring substantial infrastructure to address youth mental health disparities.⁶¹ There is clearly room for expansion of such services.

Other programs can prevent and offer treatment for severe behavioral, emotional, and developmental problems in children before mental health disorders develop. Some of these programs have a very strong evidence base (see for example the Triple P-Positive Parenting Program⁶²). The use of cognitive and coping skills for children along with parenting skills have been shown to help prevent the use of antidepressants, which remains controversial in children.

Youth-specific services

Developing youth-friendly services for enhanced access to quality multidisciplinary care has been described as probably the single most cost-effective measure in mental health care reform.⁶³

This is a population group which is often alienated from mainstream health services. They need a set of comprehensive, multidisciplinary health services including: assessment; treatment for a range of mental health problems including psychoses, eating disorders, and substance and alcohol abuse; and physical and sexual health services. For young people most at risk, additional services such as housing, independent living, education, and training are also needed.⁶⁴

Screening for at-risk groups

The use of evidence-based screening questionnaires that identify people suffering from underlying mental disorders has been shown to be more effective than observation or nonstructured assessment alone. Screening has been well received in the clinical setting and is adaptable to a range of primary care settings.⁶⁵

Despite a growing consensus for mental health screening in primary care, studies have shown that less than one-third of primary care providers routinely screen their patients for mental illness. There is substantial federal support and funding for such voluntary mental health screening programs. In 2003, the President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health specifically recommended increased screening for suicidality and mental illness.

Screening is not without controversy, however, especially when it is used for children and adolescents, and it needs to be handled sensitively.

Certain population groups are more vulnerable to mental illness and depression and should be screened (formally or informally) more often. These include adolescents, pregnant women and new mothers, people with several chronic health conditions, the elderly, and those who have recently experienced physical or emotional trauma.

Provisions in the ACA that will help deliver these reforms

Section 2952 of the ACA provides for support services to women suffering from postpartum depression and psychosis and also for programs to educate mothers and their families about these conditions. It also provides for research into the causes, diagnoses, and treatments for postpartum depression and psychosis. Funding for this work is authorized only for three years, through to 2012.

Section 4101 authorizes a grant program for the operation and development of school-based health clinics, which are charged with providing comprehensive and accessible preventive and primary health care services to medically underserved children and their families. Such clinics have the potential to help screen and treat teenagers at increased risk of mental health disorders in a nonthreatening environment. While the ACA appropriates \$50 million each year for fiscal years 2010 through 2013 for expenditures for facilities and equipment for these school clinics, funding is not provided for staffing and services. In the absence of such funds there is a risk that needed facilities will stand unused.

Racial and ethnic disparities

Outline of the issue and its impact

Disparities exist in both access to and the quality of mental health care for racial and ethnic minority groups in the United States. Examples of these disparities include: the underutilization of psychiatric services by persons from ethnic minority groups, problems in treatment engagement and retention of persons from minority groups, the overdiagnosis of schizophrenia among African Americans and depression among Latinos, the inappropriate use of antipsychotic medications among African Americans (and the use of these medications at higher dosages among African Americans and lower dosages among Latinos), and very high rates of substance use disorders and completed suicide among Native Americans⁶⁶.

In addition to access barriers, such as inadequate insurance coverage and health workforce shortages, other factors that affect minority patients' utilization of mental health services include: inadequate detection of psychiatric conditions by primary care physicians, underreferral of these patients to psychiatric care, early dropout rates from treatment, and high rates of missed appointments.⁶⁷

The consequences are dramatic:

- African Americans are 30 percent more likely to report having serious psychological distress than non-Hispanic whites.
- Older Asian-American women have the highest suicide rate of all women over age 65 in the United States.
- In 2005 suicide attempts for Hispanic girls in grades 9–12 were 60 percent higher than for white girls in the same age group.
- While the overall death rate from suicide for American Indian/Alaska Natives is comparable to the white population, adolescent American Indian/Alaska Natives have death rates two to five times the rate for whites in the same age groups.

Suggested reforms

Improving access to care

As in general health care, mental health care disparities associated with lack of access and lack of insurance are significant in minority communities. Health care reforms to expand coverage and make health care more affordable for all Americans are needed.

Addressing providers' bias and stereotyping

Discrimination by race/ethnicity is a complex behavior that can stem from a number of sources—some malevolent, some not. Physicians may be especially vulnerable to the use of stereotypes in forming impressions of patients since time pressure, brief encounters, and the need to manage very complex tasks are common characteristics of their work.⁶⁸ The effectiveness of communication between patient and doctor can be compromised when patient and doctor come from different ethnic, racial, or language groups.

Providing more diversity in the mental health workforce

More than one-fourth of all Americans are from minority groups, but these groups are greatly underrepresented in the health workforce. The percentage of racial and ethnic minorities in the mental/behavioral workforce was estimated in 2004 to be: 6.2 percent for psychology, 8.7 percent for social work, 24.2 percent for psychiatry, 17.5 percent for psychiatric nursing, 15.4 percent for counseling, 5.5 percent for marriage and family therapists, and 5.3 percent for school psychology.⁶⁹ These data reveal the need to increase the pipeline of racial and ethnic minorities in mental and behavioral health professions.

Currently the only federal programs for addressing the diversity of the mental and behavioral health workforce development are SAMHSA's Minority Fellowship Program funded at approximately \$4 million and the Health Resources and Service Administration's Graduate Psychology Education Program funded at \$2 million. There is a need to substantially increase the funding available for these programs.

Provisions in the ACA that will help deliver these reforms

A number of provisions in the ACA recognize that there is a need for an increased effort to tackle racial and ethnic health care disparities. The most important provisions to drive this effort are those that will raise the profile of minority health. Section 10334 codifies the Office of Minority Health at the Department of Health and Human Services and a network of minority health offices located within HHS. It also elevates the National Center on Minority Health and Health Disparities at the National Institutes of Health from a Center to an Institute. The Offices of Minority Health will monitor health, health care trends, and quality of care among minority patients and evaluate the success of minority health programs and initiatives. It will be crucial that mental health is a key focus in this work, as racial and ethnic minorities who are mentally ill are doubly disadvantaged.

Efforts to support greater racial diversity and cultural competency in the mental health workforce will also be important and should be prioritized. In many minority communities, community health workers can help provide needed assistance with interpretation and translation services and culturally appropriate health education and information. They can also offer informal counseling and guidance on health behaviors and be advocates for individual and community health needs. Section 5313 authorizes the secretary to award grants to states, public health departments, clinics, hospitals, federally qualified health centers, and other nonprofits to enable them to use community health workers.

The better collection and use of data is essential to drive an improved understanding of health care disparities. Section 4302 requires that any ongoing or new federal health program must collect and report data by race, ethnicity, primary language, and any other indicator of disparity—this could include mental health. The secretary has responsibility for the analysis of this data and the dissemination of the information derived from it.

Structure of the care system

Outline of the issue and its impact

The report of the 2003 Presidential Commission described the present mental health system as "a 'patchwork relic' of disjointed state and federal agencies that frequently stepped in the way of people who were seeking care instead of helping them."

The report called for a more streamlined system strongly focused on early diagnosis and treatment in patients' own communities, a high expectation of recovery, and methods for helping people with mental illnesses find work and housing. The report did not recommend increased spending on mental health, but called for a more coordinated and efficient use of the money available now.

The U.S. mental health services delivery system remains pluralistic and minimally coordinated, with a persistent division between public and private sector providers. These disparities make it difficult to translate methods for estimating workforce adequacy from health to mental health.

Suggested reforms

Bringing mental health care into mainstream health care

The primary care sector functions as the 'de facto mental health service system' in the United States, 70 and given that this is unlikely to change, it is imperative that the structure, functioning, policies, and financing of health care through both the public and private sectors reflect this.⁷¹

The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation's "Depression in Primary Care: Linking Clinical and Systems Strategies," recognizes this need and is funding a five-year, \$12 million program of demonstration projects on incentives, research projects on the value of improved care for depression in the primary care setting, and physician leadership development.⁷² The evaluation of this program should be available shortly.

For many people, their mental disorder is a chronic condition, and so mental illness needs to be included alongside other chronic conditions when initiatives are established to better address and manage these.

Patient-centered medical homes

Medical homes, if implemented appropriately, could be of great benefit to people with mental illness as a solution to reducing unnecessary emergency department usage and preventable hospitalizations and improving access to primary care.

These medical homes need to be capable of providing both mental and physical health services.⁷³ Such collaborative care could be provided through "virtual" medical homes which link community mental health organizations with outpatient clinics, community health centers, or other providers of physical health services.

An analysis conducted by the Lewin Group of a model proposed by the American Academy of Family Physicians for rewarding physicians who provided a medical home found that physicians who met the standards set forth in the model could see their earnings rise 26 percent or more, while overall health care expenditures for their patients would drop. Expected savings would come from aggressive chronic care management and efficiencies like electronic health records, email communications and consultations, online appointments, and practice-management innovations.74

Electronic medical records

Electronic medical records have the ability to improve the quality of mental health care and its coordination across a range of providers. For example, using an electronic health record with a clinical reminder system, the Department of Veterans' Affairs, or DVA, screens 89 percent of primary care patients for depression and 81 percent for substance abuse. In the DVA, 80 percent of patients hospitalized for mental illnesses receive follow-up outpatient appointments within 30 days (the Medicaid average is only 55 percent).⁷⁵.

Electronic medical records can also help patients with mental health disorders manage their complex medication regimes.

The public's lack of confidence in the privacy and security of the electronic health record and the lack of national standards for data and communications represent the biggest challenges to implementing such systems.

Comparative effectiveness data

There are so many areas in mental health care where better data and analyses would help with decisions about the best treatments for people with mental health disorders.

In particular, given the large economic impact of depression and the reluctance of patients to use antidepressants, policymakers have a need for well-designed and sufficiently-powered economic evaluations of treatments for depression. The available evidence seems to indicate that psychotherapy has more substantial clinical effects than counseling. ⁷⁶ Meta-analyses showed that psychotherapy was significantly more expensive than usual care, but not significantly more expensive than antidepressant treatment. Therefore, the emphasis should be on economic evaluations of forms of psychotherapy that have proved to be clinically effective.

Use of antidepressant drugs in the United States doubled between 1996 and 2005. Not only are more people being treated with antidepressants, but also those who are being treated are receiving more antidepressant prescriptions. More than 164 million prescriptions were written in 2008 for antidepressants, totaling \$9.6 billion in U.S. sales.⁷⁷ In part this may be due to a marked increase in spending on direct-to-consumer advertising, up from \$32 million in 1999 to \$122 million in 2005. Out-of-pocket costs for psychotherapy and lower insurance coverage for such visits may have driven patients away from seeing therapists in favor of a prescription from their primary care doctor.

Yet a very recent study of data on four new-generation antidepressants, from the class of drugs known as SSRIs, showed that these do not produce clinically significant improvements in depression in patients who initially have moderate or even very severe depression. Significant effects, over and above those produced by a placebo, are seen only in the most severely depressed patients. Given these results, the researchers concluded that there is little reason to prescribe new-generation antidepressant medications to any but the most severely depressed patients unless alternative treatments have been ineffective.

Provisions in the ACA that will help deliver these reforms

A prime focus of the ACA is encouraging the development of new patient care models and new ways to fund these. These models include medical homes, accountable care organizations, and bundled payment programs that reward coordinated care and move the focus from isolated services to health outcomes. Many of these offer real potential to improve the care of people with mental health problems, especially those with major psychoses and chronic comorbid conditions that require long-term care provided across acute, transition, and community settings.

Other innovative approaches that could help people with mental health disorders include the Independence at Home demonstration program (Section 3024) and the Community-Based Care Transitions program (Section 3026). The latter program provides funding to hospitals and community-based entities that furnish evidence-based care transition services to Medicare beneficiaries at high risk for readmission, and the legislative language recognizes depression as a risk factor.

As previously highlighted, the comparative effectiveness research that will be undertaken and sponsored by the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute established under Section 6301 will make a major contribution to the evidence base about the best screening, prevention, and treatment modalities for mental health disorders.

What else is needed?

The list of what is needed for an ideal mental health system is endless. Aligning the suggestions for reforms made in this paper with health care reforms enacted in the ACA and other recent legislation such as the American Reinvestment and Recovery Act, however, it is apparent that several crucial elements are missing.

The most important of these can be categorized in three broad areas:

Protection against discrimination for people with mental illness

While important strides have been made in the area of health care insurance coverage in this regard, too many people with mental health problems are reluctant to seek treatment because of fear of discrimination and stigma, and others don't get the appropriate treatment because of bias. In the community at large, problems with discrimination mean that the mentally ill struggle to obtain and keep employment and housing.

This is a daunting issue that must be tackled through a whole-of-government approach. As a first step, however, enacted within the confines of the healthcare system, there should be education, awareness, and training programs to help all health care providers recognize mental health needs and deliver or refer the appropriate services. There should be a series of measurable goals and targets to assess progress in this area, and to measure patient satisfaction regarding the services delivered.

Better integration of the systems for addressing mental and physical health and substance abuse

This will result in better health outcomes for all patients. Addressing depression as a comorbidity with many other chronic conditions is an important way to improve quality of life and reduce health care costs.

The strong links, including causation, between mental health disorders and substance abuse (including tobacco and alcohol) mean that it is inappropriate to treat these two issues as separate problems.

Tackling this issue of better integration will require, in the long term, changing the culture of medicine and affiliated health care professions and the way these services are delivered and reimbursed. In the short term, however, primary care providers and those who deliver treatment and management services to the chronically ill are well placed to take the lead in this regard.

More youth-specific services

Given the growing burden of mental illness in children and young people, and the evidence that shows that early identification and treatment of psychosis both reduces the disruption to the young person's functioning and psychosocial development⁷⁸ and is cost effective, this is an imperative. ⁷⁹

There are many excellent models of youth-specific services currently operating in the United States and these can serve as examples of what should be developed more widely. The increased focus on patient-centered outcome research should help to reinforce the increased need for these types of services.

Conclusion

The inevitable conclusion of this report and many others that have gone before is that considerable mental illness care is provided in the primary care sector and this will continue to be the case. Indeed, arguably, this is desirable, especially if primary care services are well integrated with mental health services, and if specialized secondary services in psychiatry are also available and accessible for further referral.

The delivery of mental health care through integrated primary care services can:

- Help close the treatment gap for mental disorders, which is currently enormous
- Help ensure that people are treated in a holis- Help minimize stigma, discrimination, tic manner, meeting the mental health needs of people with physical disorders, as well as the physical health needs of people with mental disorders
- Enhance access to mental health services and facilitate community outreach

- Ensure the monitoring, management, and care coordination of affected individuals
- and disparities
- Provide care which is affordable and cost-effective
- Generate good health outcomes, particularly if linked to a network of services at the secondary level and in the community

A number of barriers prevent the development and widespread implementation of these integrated services. These include:

- Mental health is currently carved out from the health system, resulting in a lack of accountability and transparency about which entities are responsible for payment, care coordination, and quality.
- There are workforce shortages and maldistribution in both the primary care and mental health care sectors.
- Financial structures and payer mechanisms do not support the coordinated care systems that have been shown to be feasible and effective.

There is a lack of application of evidence-based screening, early intervention, and treatment guidelines to ensure higher levels of treatment to remission and more effective recognition and care of the comorbidities that accompany mental health disorders.

There is no single lever that will radically transform a mostly fragmented system into one that is integrated—all these issues, and more, will need to be addressed.

Over the years government and nongovernment bodies have invested significant time, efforts, and resources in producing reports that outline what needs to be done. There is no value in repeating this work. In 2006 the Institute of Medicine, prepared a report that looks at how the IOM's aims, rules, and strategies for redesigning general health care can be applied to mental health care. The report emphasizes the importance of a client-centered approach that includes a focus on recovery and self-management, of developing and applying explicit standards for safety and effectiveness and valid quality measures, of innovations in financing, and of development of the professional workforce. 80 This report alone can serve as a roadmap for action and there are many other reports to inform policymaking in this area.

There are three additional prerequisites for action:

- A national understanding—by consumers, policymakers, and politicians—that mental health is essential to overall health
- A willingness to increase funding for mental health care
- Strong leadership at the highest levels

Then, it might be possible for the treatment of mental health disorders to become a model for how a highly prevalent and expensive set of chronic conditions could be addressed by primary care and specialty sectors in an integrated fashion.

Endnotes

- 1 Institute of Medicine, "Improving the Quality of Health Care for Mental and Substance-Use Conditions: Quality Chasm Series," (November 1, 2005), available at http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2005/ Improving-the-Quality-of-Health-Care-for-Mental-and-Substance-Use-Conditions-Quality-Chasm-Series.aspx.
- 2 "Statistics," National Institute of Mental Health, available at http:// www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/statistics/index.shtml.
- 3 World Health Organization, "The Global Burden of Disease: 2004 Update" (2008), available at http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_ burden_disease/GBD_report_2004update_part4.pdf.
- 4 Agency for Healthcare Quality and Research, "Medical Expenditure Panel Survey, Statistical Brief #248" (2009), available at http://www. meps.ahrq.gov/mepsweb/data_files/publications/st248/stat248.pdf.
- 5 Thomas R. Insel, "Assessing the Economic Costs of Serious Mental Illness," Am J Psychiatry 165 (2008): 663-665, available at http://ajp. psychiatryonline.org/cgi/content/full/165/6/663.
- 6 Stephen Petterson and others, "Why There Must be Room for Mental Health in the Medical Home" (Washington: Robert Graham Center, 2008), available at http://www.graham-center.org/online/graham/ home/publications/onepagers/2008/op52-mental-health.html.
- 7 Kathleen Thomas and others, "County-Level Estimates of Mental Health Professional Shortage in the United States," Psychiatric Services 60 (2009): 1323-1328, available at http://ps.psychiatryonline. org/cgi/content/abstract/ps;60/10/1323.
- 8 Allan Ellis and others, "County-Level Estimates of Mental Health Professional Supply in the United States," Psychiatric Services 60 (2009): 1315-1322, available at http://psychservices.psychiatryonline.org/ cgi/content/abstract/60/10/1315.
- 9 Robert Freedman, "Matching Patients and Providers Across the United States," Psychiatric Services 60 (2009): 1293, available at http:// ps.psychiatryonline.org/cgi/content/full/ps;60/10/1293.
- 10 Mental Health America, "Ranking America's Mental Health: An Analysis of Depression Across the States" (2007), available at http://www. mentalhealthamerica.net/go/state-ranking.
- 11 Thomas Konrad and others, "County-Level Estimates of Need for Mental Health Professionals in the United States," Psychiatric Services 60 (2009): 1307-1314, available at http://psychservices.psychiatryonline.org/cgi/content/abstract/60/10/1307.
- 12 Richard Wootton, Peter Yellowlees, and Paul McLaren, eds., "Telepsychiatry and e-Mental Health," (London: Royal Society of Medicine Press Ltd, 2003),, available at http://books.google.com/ books?id=EljybHTcMIAC&dq=Mental+health+telemedicine+progra ms+effectiveness+United+states&printsec=frontcover&source=in& hl=en&ei=9bxdS5RJx-SUB-3mve8E&sa=X&oi=book result&ct=result &resnum=11&ved=0CDYQ6AEwCg#v=onepage&q=&f=false.
- 13 "Telemedicine Standards and Guidelines," American Telemedicine Association, available at http://www.americantelemed.org/i4a/ pages/index.cfm?pageID=3311.
- 14 Philip Wang and others, "Changing Profiles of Service Sectors Used for Mental Health Care in the U.S.," Am J Psychiatry 163 (7) (2006): 1187-1198, available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC1941780/.

- 15 American Academy of Family Physicians, "Mental Health Care Services by Family Physicians (Position Paper)" (2001), available at http://www.aafp.org/online/en/home/policy/policies/m/mentalhealthcareservices.html.
- 16 Ibid
- 17 Cori Kautz, Danna Mauch, and Shelagh Smith, "Reimbursement of Mental Health Services in Primary Care Settings" (Rockville: Center for Mental Health Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2008), available at http://download.ncadi. samhsa.gov/ken/pdf/SMA08-4324/SMA08-4324.pdf.
- 18 Bradford Felker and others, "Preliminary Outcomes from an Integrated Mental Health Primary Care Team," Psychiatric Services 55 (2004): 442-444, available at http://psychservices.psychiatryonline. org/cgi/content/full/55/4/442.
- 19 J. Fickel and others, "Improving Depression Care: Primary Care-Mental Health Collaboration," Abstract Academy Health Meeting, (21) (2004): Abstract No. 1480, available at http://gateway.nlm.nih.gov/ MeetingAbstracts/ma?f=103624514.html.
- 20 American Academy of Family Physicians, "Mental Health Care Services by Family Physicians (Position Paper).".
- 22 Richard Goldberg, "Financial Incentives Influencing the Integration of Mental Health Care and Primary Care," Psychiatric Services 50 (1999): 1071-1075, available at http://psychservices.psychiatryonline.org/cgi/content/full/50/8/1071?ck=nck.
- 23 Cori Kautz, Danna Mauch, and Shelagh Smith, "Reimbursement of Mental Health Services in Primary Care Settings."
- 24 Douglas Conrad and Lisa Perry, "Quality-Based Financial Incentives in Health Care: Can We Improve Quality by Paying for It?," Annual Review of Public Health 30 (2009): 357-371, available at http://arjournals.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.03 1308.100243?cookieSet=1&journalCode=publhealth.
- 25 Cori Kautz, Danna Mauch, and Shelagh Smith, "Reimbursement of Mental Health Services in Primary Care Settings."
- 26 Harris Interactive and American Psychological Association, "Mental Health Treatment: It's Commonly Accepted Yet Not So Easy to Obtain or Understand" (2008), available at http://www.harrisinteractive. com/news/allnewsbydate.asp?NewsID=1320.
- 27 J. Harman and KJ Kelleher, "Excess Out-of-Pocket Health Care Cost Burden for Individuals with Psychiatric Conditions," (Pittsburg: Academy Health Services Research Health Policy Meeting 2002),, available at http://gateway.nlm.nih.gov/MeetingAbstracts/ ma?f=102273701.html.
- 28 Sherry Glied and Richard Frank, "Better But Not Best: Recent Trends in the Wellbeing of the Mentally III," Health Affairs 28 (3) (2009): 637-648, available at http://content.healthaffairs.org/cgi/content/ full/28/3/637.
- 29 Department of Health and Human Services, "Obama Administration Issues Rules Requiring Parity in Treatment of Mental Health, Substance Use Disorders," Press Release, January 29, 2010, available at http://www.hhs.gov/news/press/2010pres/01/20100129a.html.

- 30 Peter Cunningham, "Beyond Parity: Primary Care Physicians' Perspectives on Access to Mental Health Care," Health Affairs 28 (3) (2009): w490-w501, available at http://content.healthaffairs.org/cgi/content/abstract/28/3/w490.
- 31 Christopher Hudson, "Validation of a model for estimating state and local prevalence of serious mental illness," International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research 18 (2009): 251-264, available at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/mpr.294/abstract.
- 32 Jitender Sareen and others, "Perceived Barriers to Mental Health Service Utilization in the United States, Ontario and the Netherlands," Psychiatric Service 58 (2007): 357-364, available at http://psychservices.psychiatryonline.org/cgi/content/full/58/3/357.
- 33 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "Mental Health: A Report of the Surgeon General" (1999), available at http://www. surgeongeneral.gov/library/mentalhealth/.
- 34 Ibid.
- 35 Anthony Jorm and others, "Public Beliefs About Treatment and Outcome of Mental Disorders: A Comparison of Australia and Japan," BMC Medicine 3 (2005): 12, available at http://www.biomedcentral. com/1741-7015/3/12.
- 37 Jason Schnittker, "An Uncertain Revolution: Why the Rise of a Genetic Model of Mental Illness Has Not Increased Tolerance," Soc Sci Med 67 (9) (2008): 1370-1381, available at http://www.sciencedaily. com/releases/2008/08/080829135352.htm.
- 38 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "Mental Health: A Report of the Surgeon General."
- 39 Mental Health Commission, "President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health" (2003), available at http://www.mentalhealthcommission.gov/reports/FinalReport/FullReport.htm.
- 40 U.S. Department of Justice Americans with Disabilities Act Home Page, available at http://www.ada.gov/.
- 41 R. Kessler and others, "Prevalence and Treatment of Mental Disorders, 1990 to 2003," New England Journal of Medicine 352 (24) (2005): 2515-2523, available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/15958807?dopt=Citation.
- 42 American Academy of Family Physicians, "Mental Health Care Services by Family Physicians (Position Paper).".
- 43 Jeanne Miranda and others, "Mental Health in the Context of Health Disparities," Am J Psychiatry 165 (2008): 1102-1108, available at http://ajp.psychiatryonline.org/cgi/content/full/165/9/1102.
- 44 American Academy of Family Physicians, "Mental Health Care Services by Family Physicians (Position Paper).".
- 45 Bruce Rollman and others, "Implementation of Guideline-Based Care for Depression in Primary Care," Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 33 (1) (2006): 43, available at http://www.springerlink.com/content/b85k4l1883727457/ fulltext.pdf?page=1.
- 46 Simon Gilbody and others, "Educational and Organizational Interventions to Improve the Management of Depression in Primary Care," JAMA 289 (2003): 3145-3151, available at http://jama.amaassn.org/cgi/content/full/289/23/3145.
- 47 Kavita Patel, Brittany Butler, and Kenneth Wells, "What is Necessary to Transform the Quality of Mental Health Care," Health Affairs 25 (3) (2006): 681-693, available at http://content.healthaffairs.org/cgi/ content/full/25/3/681.
- 48 Encyclopedia of Mental Disorders, available at http://www.minddisorders.com/Br-Del/Compliance.html.

- 49 National Business Group on Health, Center for Prevention and Health Services, "An Employer's Guide to Behavioral Health Services" (2005), available at http://www.businessgrouphealth.org/pdfs/fullreport behavioralhealthservices.pdf.
- 50 P. Peele, JR Lave and Y. Xu, "Co-Morbid Mental and Medical Illnesses in Children and Adolescents," Abstr Acad Health Serv Res Health Policy Meeting 19 (2002): 17, available at http://gateway.nlm.nih.gov/MeetingAbstracts/ma?f=102273653.html.
- 51 F. Creed and C. Dickens, "Depression in the Medically III," Depression and Physical Illness, A. Steptoe, ed., (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2006), p. 4-18.
- 52 National Association of State Mental Health Program Directors, "Measurement of Health

Status for People with Serious Mental Illnesses" (2008), available at

- http://www.nasmhpd.org/general_files/publications/med_directors_ pubs/NASMHPD%20Medical%20Directors%20Health%20Indicators%20Report%2011-19-08.pdf.
- 53 David Osbourn, "The Poor Physical Health of People with Mental Illness," Western J Med. 175 (5) (2001): 329-332, available at http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1071612/.
- 54 National Alliance on Mental Illness, "The High Costs of Cutting Mental Health," available at http://www.nami.org/Content/NavigationMenu/State_Advocacy/About_the_Issue/HealthCare.pdf.
- 55 Agnes Hatfield, "Dual Diagnosis and Mental Illness (Schizophrenia and Drug or Alcohol Dependence)," Schizophrenia.com, available at http://www.schizophrenia.com/family/dualdiag.html. XXX PAGE DOWN XXX
- 56 National Drug Intelligence Center, "Drug Abuse and Mental Illness Fast Facts," available at http://www.justice.gov/ndic/pubs7/7343/ index.htm.
- 57 SAMHSA/CSAT Treatment Improvement Protocols, "Tip 45: Cooccurring Medical and Psychiatric Conditions," available at http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/bookshelf/br.fcgi?book=hssamhsatip&part =A85773.
- 58 National Institute on Drug Abuse, "Comorbid Drug Abuse and Mental Illness" (2007), available at http://www.drugabuse.gov/pdf/ tib/comorbid.pdf.
- 59 National Institute of Mental Health, "Treatment of Children with Mental Disorders" (2009), available at http://www.nimh.nih.gov/ health/publications/treatment-of-children-with-mental-disorders/ index.shtml. XXX DEAD LINK XXX
- 60 AHRQ Health Care Innovations Exchange, "Early Identification and Intervention Leads to Lower-Than-Expected Rates of Schizophrenia for At-Risk Adolescents" (2010). available at http://www.innovations. ahrq.gov/content.aspx?id=2235.
- 61 Miech Azue and others, "The Potential to Reduce Mental Health Disparities Through the Comprehensive Community Mental Health Services for Children and Their Families Program," J Behav Health Serv Res., 35 (3) (2008): 253-264, available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/18543110.
- 62 Triple P-America, available at http://www.triplep-america.com/ pages/evidence/research.html.
- 63 Patrick McGorry, "Is Early Intervention in the Major Psychotic Disorders Justified? Yes," BMJ 2008, 337: a695, available at http://www. bmj.com/cgi/content/extract/337/aug04_1/a695.
- 64 Lindsey Woolsey and Judith Katz-Leavy, "Excerpts from: Transitioning Youth With Mental Health Needs to Meaningful Employment and Independent Living," Journal for Vocational Special Needs Education, 31 (1-3) (2008): 9-18, available at http://www.eric. ed.gov/ERICWebPortal/custom/portlets/recordDetails/detailmini. jsp?_nfpb=true&_&ERICExtSearch_SearchValue_0=EJ841390&ERICE xtSearch_SearchType_0=no&accno=EJ841390.

- 65 John Genrich and Leslie McGuire, "Identifying Mental Illness Early Through Routine Mental Health Screening," Medscape Psychiatry and Mental Illness, 2009, available at http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/711264.
- $\,$ 66 Sylvia Atdjian and William Vega, "Disparities in Mental Health Treatment in U.S. Racial and Ethnic Minority Groups: Implications for Psychiatrists," Psychiatric Services 56 (2005): 1600-1602, available at http://psychservices.psychiatryonline.org/cgi/content/ full/56/12/1600.
- 67 Sylvia Atdjian and William Vega, "Disparities in Mental Health Treatment in U.S. Racial and Ethnic Minority Groups: Implications for Psychiatrists."
- 68 M. van Ryn and J. Burke, "The Effect of Patient Race and Socio-Economic Status on Physicians' Perceptions of Patients," Social Science and Medicine 50 (6) (2000): 813-828, available at http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10695979.
- 69 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, "Mental Health, United States, 2004" available at http://mentalhealth. samhsa.gov/publications/allpubs/SMA06-4195/.
- 70 Darrel Regier and others, "The De Facto US Mental and Addictive Disorders System," Arch Gen Psychiatry 50 (2) (1993): 85-94, available at http://archpsyc.ama-assn.org/cgi/content/abstract/50/2/85?ijkey =645a4f91cbf82c07ec88098e489cb076f48d3de9&keytype2=tf_ip-
- 71 M Butler and others, "Integration of Mental Health/Substance Abuse and Primary Care" (Rockville: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2008), available at http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/tp/mhsapctp.
- 72 Harold Pincus and others, "Depression in Primary Care: Bringing Behavioral Health Care into the Mainstream," Health Affairs 24 (1) (2005): 271-276, available at http://content.healthaffairs.org/cgi/ content/full/24/1/271

- 73 Petterson and others, "Why There Must be Room for Mental Health in the Medical Home.
- 74 Stephen Spann, "Report on Financing the New Model of Family Medicine," Annals of Family Medicine (2) (2004): S1-S21, available at http://www.annfammed.org/cgi/content/full/2/suppl_3/s1.
- 75 Mental Health Commission, "President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health."
- 76 Judith Bosmans and others, "Are Psychological Treatments for Depression in Primary Care Cost-Effective?" Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics, 11 (1) (2008): 3-15, available at http://www. icmpe.org/test1/journal/issues/v11i1/v11i1abs02.html.
- 77 Mark Olfson and Steven Marcus, "National Patterns in Antidepressant Medication Treatment," Arch Gen Psychiatry 66 (8) (2009): 848-856, available at http://www.alertnet.org/thenews/newsdesk/ N03411375.htm.
- 78 Patrick McGorry and others, "International clinical practice guidelines for early psychosis," The British Journal of Psychiatry (2005) 187: s120-s124, available at http://bjp.rcpsych.org/cgi/content/ full/187/48/s120.
- 79 Access Economics, "The economic impact of youth mental illness and the cost effectiveness of early intervention" (2009), available at http://www.eppic.org.au/sites/all/files/CostYMH_Dec2009.pdf.
- 80 Institute of Medicine, Improving the Quality of Health Care for Mental and Substance-Use Conditions (Washington: National Academies Press, 2006), available at http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_ id=11470.

About the author

Lesley Russell, B.Sc (Hons), B.A., Ph.D., is a Visiting Fellow at the Center for American Progress and a visiting professor in the Department of Health Policy at George Washington University. She is the Menzies Foundation Fellow at the Menzies Centre for Health Policy, University of Sydney-Australian National University and a research associate at the U.S. Studies Centre at the University of Sydney.

The Center for American Progress is a nonpartisan research and educational institute dedicated to promoting a strong, just and free America that ensures opportunity for all. We believe that Americans are bound together by a common commitment to these values and we aspire to ensure that our national policies reflect these values. We work to find progressive and pragmatic solutions to significant domestic and international problems and develop policy proposals that foster a government that is "of the people, by the people, and for the people."

